BERKERY v. VERIZON COMMUNICATIONS, INC. et al Doc. 38

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

JOHN C. BERKERY SR, : CIVIL ACTION
Plaintiff , :
No. 2:15<cv-1085
V.

VERIZON COMMUNICATIONS, INC.,
et. al,
Defendants.

MCHUGH, J. OCTOBER 29, 2015

MEMORANDUM

Plaintiff, John C. Berkery, Srfiled this actionagainst Defendants Verizon
Communicationsinc. andCellco Partnershifcollectively “Verizon”), allegingthat Verizon
fraudulently computed his telephobids. Specifically, Berkenalleges that Verizon improperly
chargechim for In-Network callsandregularly miscalculated his monthly usadgerkerybrings
claimsunderthe Federal Communications Adf7 U.S.C. § 20{'FCA"), the Declaratory
Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2281 seq.the Pennsylvania Unfair Tradractics and Consumer
Protection Law, 73 P.S. § 20letseq(*"UTPCPL"), and the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15
U.S.C. 8§ 168kt seq(“FCRA"), as well asstate law claims for breach of contracidfraud

Defendants have moved to dismiaintiff's Complaint, arguing thderkery’s claims
areeachlegally deficient and/or that the applicable statutes of limitations have laBseduse |
agree with Defendants thidiie applicable statutes ofrlitations have run otihe majorityof
Plaintiff's claims, and the two remaining claims fail to assert plausible claims fdy relie

Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss will be granted in full.

L “While the language of Fe®. Civ. P. 8(c) indicates that a statute of limitations defense cannot be used in the
context of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, an exception is made wiecomplaint facially shows
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l. Factual Allegationsin Berkery’s Complaint

Berkeryalleges that heontracted with Verizon for mobile phone service from December
2008 through August 200He claims thahis servicecontractallowed forunlimited In-
Networkcallsbetween Verizogustomersat no chargewhich did not count against his monthly
minute allotment Berkery further pleads that his contract ratecits abovethe monthly
minuteallowance wa$0.25 per minute.

After noticing abnormally high bills for several months and closely monitoring his usage,
Berkery came to the conclusion tiag bills were being fraudulently computed and needed to be
re-calculated Specifically, Berkery avers that Defendants clairhedwed thenover $1200
when his “base bill was supposed to be under $100 per month.” Compl. aH§ B&lieved he
wasbeingimproperlycharged for IlNetwork callsthat were supposed befreeaccording to
the terms of his contract, ahts Verizon billserroneously counted thosameln-Network calls
towards his monthly minute allotmerBerkerycomplained to Verizon regarding his concerns,
and requestethat his bils be recalculatedVerizonallegedlyrefused As a resultBerkery
cancekd his serviceontractwith Verizon?

In 2014, Berkery receivedraailingindicatingthat he mighbea manber of the
Demmickclass action against Verizgending in the District of New Jersey (case number 06-
2163). He allegedlyfollowed the instructions on the mailidgit ultimatelyopted-out of the
class action.Importantly, thddemmickclass only consistedf Verizon customers who had a

Family SharePan between May 2002 and May 200Berkery’sclaims if any, arose in 2008

noncompliance with the limitations period and the affirmative defensdychggpears on the face of the pleading.
Oshiver v. Levin, Fishbein, Sedran & Berm&8 F.3d 1380, 1385.1(3d Cir. 1994)

2 Plaintiff alleges that his phone services ended igustiof 2009, while Defendants’ records show that he canceled
his service in December of 2009. In viewing all facts in the light fiawsrable to Plaintiff, | will calculate each
limitations period based on the later date (December 2009).
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and 2009. In February 2015, Berkamitiatedthis independensuit against Verizoror claims
relating to his Verizomn-Network Plan.

Il. Discussion

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), Verizon has moved to digtasgiff's Complaint
In analyzing a Motion to Bmiss, # facts must be considered in the light most favorable to the
nonmoving partyand there must be “a plausible entitlenidot relief. Bell Atl. v. Twombly
550 U.S. 544, 546 (2007Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 696 (2009).must liberally construe
the pleadingn this caseas ‘pro selitigants are held to a lesser pleadstgndard than other
parties; even in the formal litigation contexted. Exp. Corp. v. Holowecks52 U.S. 389, 402,
(2008)(citing Estelle v. Gamble429 U.S. 97, 106 (1976)).

A. Counts One, Two, Three, and Four of Plaintiff's Complaint are TBaueed

Counts One through Four of Plaintiff's Complaint are time-barred pursuant to the
applicable statutes of limitations.

Count One arises under the FCA and allégas Defendants failed to adequately disclose
billing practices in violation of the statute. The relevant statute of limitations is tw® fyean
the date that the cause of action accrued. 47 U.S.C. § 415(a) and (b). Here, viewing all
allegations in the light most favorable to Berkery and interpreting the pleddeglly,
Berkery’s FCA claimaccrued in December of 2009, the latest date that Berkery may have
canceled his service with Verizon due to dissatisfaction with his*billensequently, Berkery’s
FCA claim expired in December of 2QMell before he brought suit on February 18, 2015.

Count Two, brought pursuant to the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2201,
mirrors the allegations in Count One. The only distinction between the two countsabete r

requested, as Plaintiff requests a judicial declaration to ascertain the’ praasiesctive rights

% See supraote 2.



and duties with respect to Defendants’ billing practices” under Count Two. Kergsr
underlying FCA claim is barred by the statute of limitations, his requestiieclaratory

judgment is also barred because it is predicated tipppsame cause of actioAlgrant v.

Evergreen Valley Nurseries Ltd. P'shi®26 F.3d 178, 184—85 (3d Cir. 1997Avhen plaintiffs’
claims are barred by a statute of limitations applicable to a concurrent legalyreiren a court

will withhold declarabry judgment relief in an independent suit essentially predicated upon the
same cause of actioDtherwise, the statute of limitationan be circumvented merely by
‘[d]raping their claim in the raiment the Declaratory Judgment Act.’ (nternal citaion

omitted) Accordingly, since the underlying FCA claim hasva-year statute of limitations,

which expired in December 2011, Berkery’'s declaratory judgment claim isotaimed as well.

Count Three is a common law breach of contract claim, which has gdaustatute of
limitations under Pennsylvania law. 42 Pa. C.S. § 5525(a)(1). The latest date that' 8erke
contract claim accrued is December 2009. Therefore, Count Three has bekartedesince
December of 2013.

Count Four advances a clafor common law fraud. Pennsylvania has a fwer statute
of limitations for fraud. 42 Pa. C. S. 8§ 5524(7). Assuming that Berkery discovered Verizon’s
alleged fraudulent activity in December 2009, at the latest, this claim expi2€d 1.

B. Plaintiff is Not Entitled to Equitable Tolling

Berkery argues that even if the statutes of limitations have lapsed, he is ¢atitled
equitable tolling as a member of the putatolassin Demmick et al. v. Cellco Partnership d/b/a
Verizon WirelessCase No. 06-216(.N.J).

UnderAm. Pipe and Constr. Co. v. Utadquitable tolling is available to putative class

members who move to intervene or file an independent action following denial®f clas



certification. 414 U.S. 538, 554-55 (1974)Ithough the mailing Berdry received regarding
theDemmickclass seemed to suggest that he was a class member, only customers with Family
SharePlans between May 2002 and May 2@dify as class memberSeeDefendants’ Reply

Brief at Exhibits A and B. Berkery was not a Venzmstomer for purposes of this actiamtil

August of 2008. Moreover, he contracted with Verizon for the In-Netwiakhot a Family
SharePlan As aptly explained bipefendants“If Berkery had an unrelated Family SharePlan
between 2002 and 2006, heytave been a member of themmickclass. But, it is clear that
Berkery’s claims at issue in the case at hand arise out of his service witbn\fieless from

2008 to 2009, and thus have nothing to do Wigmmick. Defendants’ Reply Brief at 3.

While | empathize with the confusion of the class action communication, Bevkesry
not an eligible member of ti@emmickclass,at least nobaseddn his currenallegations.
Therefore, Berkeris not entitled to equitable tolling this action and hidirst four claims
remain timebarred for failure tdring suitwithin the time allotted by the applicable statutes of
limitations

C. The Complaint’'s Remaining Counts Fail to Statausible Clains for Relief

Berkery'sPennsylvanidJ TPCPLclaim (Count Five) is precluded likie economic loss
doctrine. “The economic loss doctrine ‘prohibits plaintiffs from recovering tretmmomic
losses to which their entitlement flows only from a contrdctWerwinski v. Ford Motor Co.
286 F. 3d 661, 67@d Cir. 2002) (citingDuquesne Light Co. v. Westinghouse Elec. Cé.,
F.3d 604, 618 (3d Cir.1995)). Berkery’s UTPCPL claim is rooted in the same underlying
allegations that form the basis of his contrdatne, as Count Three and Count Five both stem
from Defendants’ alleged failure to comply with the terms of the parties’ seiteact.

CompareCompl. at Count Five (Violation of UTPCPL), 1 49 (“The conduct of Defendants in



representing that Plaintiff would have unlimited-Metwork’ calling and themstead charging
for ‘In-Network’ calls . . . constitutes an unconscionable commercial practicewith'Tompl.
at Count Three (Breach of Contract), { 38 (“Defendants Verizon breached theactcait
obligations under the wireless telephone seragreements with Plaintiff by engaging in the
improper billing practices alleged herein and/or by failing to fully and addyuhiselose such
billing practices to their customers”Accordingly,Berkery’s UTP®L claim flows solely from
his service contract and is thereftwared by the economic loss doctrine

Berkery’s FCRA claimsinder Count Six suffer from procedural and substantive
deficiencies A private cause of action does not exist under 15 U.S.C. § 1681n (Gdfmpb)
and § 16810 (Compét § 56). SeeSimmsParris v. Countrywide Fin. Coyp52 F.3d 355, 358
(3d Cir. 2011) (explaininthatonly the governmentas a cause of action under 15 U.S.C. 88
1681n & 0). 15 U.S.C. § 1682%b)(1), however, does provide farprivate cause of actidar
failure to investigatereditreportingdiscrepanciesUnder § 16812(b)(1) (1) theconsumer
mustinform the credit agency thé&)he disputes the informatior2) the credit agency mugiten
notify the furnisher (Verizn) of the dispute; and (3) the furnisher must conduct a reasonable
investigation withrespect to the disputed informatioBeeSimmsParris652 F.3d at 359 (“It is
only when the furnisher fails to undertake a reasonable investigation followincg[hgtihe
credit reporting agay] that it may become liable to a private litigant under 8 1-6813.");
Krajewski v. AmHonda Fin Corp, 557 F. Supp. 2d 596, 609 (E.D. Pa. 2008)f(frnisher of
information is under no duty to conduct an investigation regarding a disputed entry on a
consumer's credit report pursuant to 8 1681s—2(b) until the furnisher receives notice of the

dispute from a consumer reporting agency.”).



Significantly here, to advance a plausib®U.S.C. § 1681s-2(b)(1) failure to investigate
claimagainst Verizon, notice of the dispute must hawenlgé/en“by a credit reporting agency,
and cannofhave] come directly from the consunielSimmsParris652 F.3d at 358. If only the
consumer provides notice of the dispute, the duty to investigate is not triggered, and thus no
§ 1681diability can attach.ld. at 359 (‘a consumer must first alert the credit reporting agency
that reported the allegedly erroneous information of a dispute. It is then up ¢épohntng
agency to inform the furnisher of information that there has been a disputeythigygéxing the
furnisher's duty to investigati.

In his ComplaintBerkeryonly pleadghatheinformedthe credit reporting agencighat
he disputed his credinformationrelated to his former contract with Verizo@ompl.at 58
(“Plaintiff disputed Verizon'’s false charges to Trans Union, Equifax, and Expemnd
demanded they do a re-investigation in conformance to the FCRA. . . . Said Defead#ént cr
reporting agencies never complied with, and hence violated, the FCRBetkeryfails to
allege that a credit repang agency notified/erizon as the furnisher of information heoé,the
dispute, and Verizon subsequently failed to undertake a reasamakiienelyinvestigation.
Therefore, Berkery'$§CRA claimdoes not state a plausible claim for relief as currently pleaded.
Count Sixwill accordinglybe dismissed without prejudice, as an amendment may be able to cure
the identified pleading deficiengePhillips v. Cnty. of Allegheny15 F.3d 224, 245 (3d Cir.
2008) (“if a complaint is subject to a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal, a district couttpaumsit a

curative amendment unless such an amendment would be inequitable or futile”).



D. Conclusion
Forthe foregoing reason¥erizon’s Motion to Dsmissis granted on all countsAn
appropriate Ordefollows.

/sl Gerald Austin McHugh
United States District Court Judge




